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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

WAYNE L. BRISCOE,
Plaintiff,

V.

CaseNo. 14-2146-DDC-KGG

COHEN, MCNEILE & PAPPAS, P.C.,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Wayne L. Briscodrings this lawsuit agaibslefendant Cohen, McNeile &
Pappas, P.C., alleging two claims—one for violatf the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(“FDCPA"), 15 U.S.C. § 1692t seq, and the other for violation of the Kansas Consumer
Protection Act ("KCPA”), K.S.A. 8 50-623%t seg—arising from defendant’s attempts to collect
a debt from plaintiff. This matter comes before the@t on defendant’s Motion to Dismiss
under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) (DdE3). After considering the arguments made by both parties,
the Court grants in part and deniepart defendant’'s Motion to Dismiss.

l. Factual Background

The following facts are taken from plaiffit Second Amended Complaint (Doc. 11) and
the Court views them in the light most favorable to hi#rE.C. v. Shield§44 F.3d 633, 640
(10th Cir. 2014) (“We accept as true all wellquded factual allegations in the complaint and

view them in the light most favorable to thégjptiff].”) (quotation omitted). During the times

! Plaintiff also named The Baldwin State Bank alefndant in this lawsuit. On June 13, 2014,
plaintiff filed an Amended Stipulation of Dismisgalrsuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(a)(1) stating that

plaintiff, defendant The Baldwin State Bank, and defendant Cohen, McNeile & Pappas, P.C. stipulate to
the dismissal of plaintiff's claims against The Baid State Bank only, witprejudice (Doc. 27). Thus,
defendant Cohen, McNeile & Pappas, P.Gh&sonly remaining defendant in the case.
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relevant to this lawsuit, plaintiff mainta@d two bank accounts @he Baldwin State Bank
(“Bank™)—a personal account and a businassount for Resources Advantages in
Telecommunications Enterprises, Inc., alsownas R.A.T.E., Inc. On or around July 29, 2010,
plaintiff obtained a personal loan from the Bank in the amount of $8,450.00. After plaintiff
defaulted on that loan, the Bank, attemptingatsfy partially plaitiff's outstanding personal
loan, seized funds from R.A.T.E., Inc.’s mess account in the amount of $1,500.00. In June
2011, the Bank turned the personal loan accouet to a collection agency, Shaffer &
Associates. Shaffer & Associati®n hired defendant to initiakegal action against plaintiff to
collect the amount oweah the personal loan.

On June 16, 2012, defendant sent a lettptamtiff at his curent address of 9890
Evening Star Road, Eudora, Kansas, 66025 (“the Eudddress”). (Plaintiff has resided at the
Eudora Address from 2007 to the present.) Therlstéded that plaintifhad an account balance
of $8,007.38 with the Bank and that the debt heehlreferred to defendant for collection. The
letter also demanded payment of the debime3aMcNeile, an attorney who practices with
defendant law firm, signed the letter.

In September 2012, defendant, acting asl legansel for the Bank, filed a lawsuit
against plaintiff in the Distric€ourt of Douglas County, Kansas. thre caption of this lawsuit,
defendant stated that plaiffitiesided at 239 E. 1000th Rod&hldwin City, Kansas, 66006 (“the
Baldwin City Address”). Plainti has never lived at the Baldwiity Address. Defendant also
attached several exhibits to tRetition filed in that lawsuit, tluding an Affidavit of Account
and Verification of Business Records frone BBank’s President, Tom Dillon, and the Bank’s
account summary of plaintiff's personal loan accourtte account summary stated that plaintiff

resided at the Eudora Address.



Although the account summary stated thatnilff resided at the Eudora Address,
defendant attempted to serve plaintiff witle fawsuit at the Baldwin City Address. In
September of 2012, defendant filed a Serviceuesbn Form which instructed the Douglas
County Sheriff to serve process at the Baldwity @iddress. The Summons and the Return of
Service of Summons also listéhe Baldwin City Address.

When plaintiff failed to apgar or file a timely answer ithe lawsuit, defendant took a
default judgment. On September 28, 2012, deferpl@pared, signed arfided a Journal Entry
of Judgment certifying “that the file in the ..case” reflected that plaiff was properly served
with summons or process on September 13, 30#Bwever, plaintiff was never served in the
lawsuit because defendant instedthe Sheriff to serve him at an address where he had never
resided (the Baldwin City Addss). The District Court douglas County, Kansas entered a
default judgment against plaintiff in the priple sum of $7,055.91, plymst-judgment interest
at the rate of 15.250% per annamd attorney’s fees of $250.80.

On December 18, 2012, defendant preparededigmnd filed a Request for Garnishment
in Douglas County, Kansas, for service on pl#istemployer, Sprint United Management Co.
In that document, defendant listed plaintifiddress as the Baldwint€iAddress, although he
never resided at that location. On January 832tk District Court of Douglas County, Kansas
entered an Order of Garnishment in theoant of $7,612.55, and the District Court of Johnson

County, Kansas received it on January 14, 2008 Request for Garnishment also listed

2 Def.’s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, B (Doc. 14-3). The Court may take judicial notice

of public records from other proceedindgiri-State Truck Ins., Ltd. v. First Nat'| Bank of Wamg§81

F. Supp. 2d 1120, 1123 (D. Kan. 2013) (citgited States v. Ahidley86 F.3d 1184, 1192 n.5 (10th

Cir. 2007);Hemphill v. Kimberly-Clark Corp605 F. Supp. 2d 183, 186 (D.D.C. 2009)). The Court also
may consider this document because plaintiff inomafed it into his Second Amended Complaint by
reference (Doc. 11 at T 39), it is central to trentiff's claim, and the parties do not dispute its
authenticity. Smith v. United State561 F.3d 1090, 1098 (10th Cir. 2009) (citations omitted).

3 Def.’s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. C (Doc. 14-3).
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plaintiff’'s address incorrectly, showing the Baldwin Citgdkess. On January 15, 2013,
defendant filed a Notice of Service of Notice to Judgt Debtor for service on plaintiff. In that
document, defendant again listed plaintiffddeess incorrectly, showing the Baldwin City
Address.

On January 29, 2013, the Sheriff served@nder of Garnishment on Sprint United
Management Co. In response to the garnishimeter, plaintiff's employer deducted amounts
from plaintiff's paycheck five separatienes: (1) $278.32 on February 1, 2013; (2) $278.51 on
February 15, 2013; (3) $172.69 on Februz8y2013; (4) $278.94 on March 1, 2013; and (5)
$278.51 on March 15, 2013. The total amountighed from plaintiff's wages was $1,286.97.

On February 12, 2013, plaintiff filed a pro setran in the lawsuit peding in the District
Court of Douglas County, Kansas, titled “Motiom felief From Judgment Pursuant to K.S.A.
Chapter 60 In that motion, plaintiff stated that teimmons and Return of Service filed in the
lawsuit showed that plaintiff was served at Baddwin City Address, wére plaintiff claimed he
never resided. Therefore, plaintiff argluthat the service was defective.

In February of 2013, plaintiff filed a com& against the Bank with the Kansas Office
of the State Bank Commissioné®n March 3, 2013, the Bank wrote a check to R.A.T.E., Inc. in
the amount of $1,500.00. On March 25, 2013, deferfdadta Satisfaction of Judgment in the
lawsuit pending in the Distri Court of Douglas County, Kaas, stating that defendant
acknowledged full and complete satisfaction of the judgment. On April 22, 2013, defendant
wrote a check to plaintiff in the amount of $1,286.97.

On or about February 1, 2014, the Bank regmbaccount information to TransUnion and

Equifax about plaintiff's persoh&an account with the Bank. o@sequently, reports from these

4 Def.’s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. E (Doc. 14-5).
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credit agencies show thaigpitiff's personal loan accouhtid an outstanding balance of
$7,055.00 and a past due amount ($10,858.00rfmrsUnion and $10,940.00 for Equifax).
Il. Legal Standard

Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2) provides that amgmaint must contain “a short and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleaslentitled to relief.” Although this Rule “does
not require ‘detailed faatl allegations,” it demands more th§a] pleading that offers ‘labels
and conclusions’ or ‘a formulaic recitation oetelements of a cause of action™ which, as the
Supreme Court explained, “will not doAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting
Bell Atlantic Corp. v. TwombJ\650 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)).

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complamust contain sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to ‘state a claim feefehat is plausible on its face.’Id. (quotingTwombly
550 U.S. at 570). “A claim has facial plausibiMgen the plaintiff pleasifactual content that
allows the court to draw the reasonable infeeath@t the defendant is liable for the misconduct
alleged.” Id. (citing Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). “Under this stdard, ‘the complaint must give
the court reason to believe thhis plaintiff has a reasonable ékhood of mustering factual
support fortheseclaims.” Carter v. United State$67 F. Supp. 2d 1259, 1262 (D. Kan. 2009)
(quotingRidge at Red Hawk, L.L.C. v. Schnejd&3 F.3d 1174, 1177 (10th Cir. 2007)).

Although the Court must assume that the factilafjations in the complaint are true, it is
“not bound to accept as true a legal conadustouched as a factual allegationld. at 1263
(quotinglgbal, 556 U.S. at 678). “Threadbare recitafghe elements of a cause of action,

supported by mere conclusory statements)atesuffice™ to state a claim for relieBixler v.

Foster, 596 F.3d 751, 756 (10th Cir. 2010) (quotligbal, 556 U.S. at 678).



When evaluating a motion to dismiss unded.A. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the Court may
consider not only the complaint itself, but als@meed exhibits and documents incorporated into
the complaint by referencé&mith v. United State561 F.3d 1090, 1098 (10th Cir. 2009) (citing
Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, L6851 U.S. 308 (2007)) (further citations omitted). A
court “may consider documentsfeered to in the complaint the documents are central to the
plaintiff's claim and the parties do not dispute the documentsenticity.” Id. (Quoting
Alvarado v. KOB-TV, L.L.C493 F.3d 1210, 1215 (10th Cir. 2007)) (internal quotation omitted).

With its motion, defendant has submitted evidence outside the pleadings in the form of an
affidavit signed by Bryan Butell, Executive ViceeBident of the Bank. Ex. A to Def.’s Mem. in
Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss (Doc. 14-1). GengralWwhen “matters outde the pleadings are
presented to and not excluded by the couartipciding a motion under Rule 12(b)(6)], the
motion must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d).
The Court has discretion to accept or reject dantmattached to a motion to dismiss pursuant
to Rule 12(b)(6).Lybrook v. Members of Farmington Mun. Sch. Bd. of EQB2 F.3d 1334,

1341 (10th Cir. 2000) (citations omitted). Here, @wurt rejects Butell's affidavit and considers
defendant’s arguments in the context of a matiodismiss for failure to state a claim. The
Court declines to consider this evidence itedmining whether plaintiff has failed to state a
claim upon which relief may be granted.

Il Analysis

Plaintiff brings two claims against defendanthis lawsuit: (1) violation of the FDCPA,
15 U.S.C. 8§ 169t seqand (2) violation of the KCPA, K.S.A. 8 50-628,seq Defendant
moves the Court to dismiss both claims under Fe@iR.P. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim

upon which relief can be granted. The Cauttiresses each claim in turn below.



A. Fair Debt Collections Practices Act Claim

The FDCPA was enacted “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt
collectors, to insure that those debt collestwho refrain from usingbusive debt collection
practices are not competitively disadvantaged,taqmomote consistent State action to protect
consumers against debt collection abuses.” B@QJ.§ 1692(e). “Generally, in connection with
the collection of a debt, the EIPA prohibits debtollectors from (1) engaging in harassing,
oppressive or abusive conduct; (2) using falsegpigve or misleading representations or means;
and (3) using unfair or unconscionable meari3ilton v. Riffel-Kuhlmann574 F. Supp. 2d
1221, 1223 (D. Kan. 2008) (citinphnson v. Ridd|e805 F.3d 1107, 1117 (10th Cir. 2002)
(citing 15 U.S.C. 88 1692d, 1692e, 1692f)). TheHA “applies to attorneys who ‘regularly’
engage in consumer-debt-collectiactivity, even when that adtiy consists of litigation.”

Heintz v. Jenkins14 U.S. 291, 299 (1995).

Plaintiff alleges that dendant violated § 1692d, § 1692e, and 8§ 1692f of the FDCPA
based on defendant’s failure to serve him at hisescbaddress in the lawi$ defendant filed in
the District Court of Dougla€ounty, Kansas. Section 1692apibits “any conduct the natural
consequence of which is to harass, oppresabuse any person in connection with the collection
of a debt.” Section 1692e prohibits a detitector from using “any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in conneatiith the collection of any debt.” Section
1692f prohibits the use of “unfamr unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any
debt.” While plaintiff contends that he has alleégeclaim for violations of these sections of the
FDPCA, he fails to provide the Court withyalegal authority to support his argument that
defendant’s failure to serve himthe correct address in a debliection action is sufficient to

state a claim.



The Court recognizes, though, that other conatge allowed FDCPA claims to proceed
when the plaintiff alleges th#tte defendant engaged in “sewervice,” which is “defined as
‘failing to serve a debtor andihg a fraudulent affidavit attestg to service so that when the
debtor later fails to appear in court, daddt judgment is entered against himPreeman v.

ABC Legal Servs., Inc827 F. Supp. 2d 1065, 1068 n.1 (N.D. Cal. 2011) (qu&pmiggel v.
Judicial Atty. ServsNo. 09 C 7163, 2011 WL 382809, at *1 (N.D. lll. Feb. 1, 2011)). Our
Court has explained the omigof this term:

In jurisdictions such as New York, whegpeocess need not be served by a public

official, the bulk of the business of serg process gravitataato the hands of

professional process servers. Somethase process servers once followed a

practice of disposing of process given them to serve (e.g., by throwing it down a

sewer) and then falsely returning that they had duly served it. Although it is

completely illegal, this practice once had particularly widespread use in New

York in cases brought to collect consemobligations. In 1973, changes in the

law dealing with proof of service to regeimore detailed statements relating to

how the process was served were enaase@l means of curbing such abuses.
Richardson v. Alliance Tire and Rubber Co., L8 F.R.D. 475, 480 n.5 (D. Kan. 1994)
(quoting 1 Robert C. Casaljrisdiction in Civil Action$g 3.01[7][d] (2d ed. 1991)).

For example, irHolmes v. Elec. Document Processing,,|866 F. Supp. 2d 925, 934—
35 (N.D. Cal. 2013), the plaintiff successfully sthta claim for violation of the FDCPA against
defendants who allegedly manufactured and salddulent proof of serges and summons that
falsely stated that plaintiff was personally sshwith a summons and complaint when, in fact,
plaintiff was not served. In these “sewer servicases, the plaintiffdlaged that the defendants
made deliberately false statements in the proofeofice of summons by attesting that they had
served the plaintiffs when they had n&eee.g, Long v. Nationwide Legal File & Serve, Inc.
No. 12-CV-03578-LHK, 2014 WL 3809401, at *1 (NQal. July 23, 2014) (process server

completed and signed a proof of service of semsrattesting that he had personally served



plaintiff, a “Black, Male, 35 Years Old, Bladkair, Brown Eyes, 5 Feet 9 Inches, 180 Pounds,”
but plaintiff submitted evidence showing that he was 68 years old at the time of purported
service, is East Indian, and he had not lisethe address listed oretproof of service for

almost a year at the time of purported servie®imes 966 F. Supp. 2d at 928 (FDCPA plaintiff
alleged that defendantdd a false proof of service statitigat plaintiff had been served and
describing her as “a female Caucasian, 50-yelatswith brown hair and brown eyes, 5 feet 8
inches tall, and weighing 1Gf®unds” but plaintiff was 62 years old with blond hair and blue
eyes and weighed 125 poundSgnchez v. AbderrahmaNo. 10—cv-3641 (CBA), 2012 WL
1077842, at *13 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 201@laintiffs stated a clairfor violation of the FDCPA
where they alleged that defendant “did not senvattempt to serve process at all, but instead
merely filed a false affidavit claiming they had.Qykes v. Mel Harris and Assoc., LLG7 F.
Supp. 2d 413, 424 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (plaintiff stateausible claim for violation of the FDCPA
against a law firm who allegedfijed false affidavits attestintp service to secure default
judgments against consumers).

In contrast, here, plaifitihas not alleged fraudulenttadty by defendant to support a
violation of the FDCPA under adbry that defendant was engagiin “sewer service.” While
plaintiff contends that defendaelected to serve him at thelBain City Address although there
was “overwhelming evidence” in his personal loan records that he resided at the Eudora
residence (Pl.’s Sec. Am. Compl. at { 35 (D)), plaintiff does noallege that defendant
instructed the Sheriff to serve him at the incorrect addoedbe purpos@f obtaining a default
judgment fraudulently or that defendant filee thournal Entry of Judgent certifying that

plaintiff had been servedith process when #éctually knewhe was not served Plaintiff also

° Defendant’'s Memorandum in Support of its Matio Dismiss states that it was “operating under

the belief that plaintiff resided at [the Baldwin Cigdress], not [the Eudora Address].” Doc. 14 at 3.
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does not allege that defendant filed a false Return of Summons attesting to service, when it had
not actually served plaintiff. As such, plaintiff has not atied a claim for violation of the
FDCPA under the “sewer service” thewgcognized by this line of cases.

Next, the Court must determine whetdefendant violated the FDCPA by serving
plaintiff at an incorrect addss, taking a judgment against plaintiff (although service was
defective), and garnishing plaintiff's wages based on that judgment. Our Court has previously
concluded there is “no support for the progiosithat pursuing a dlection action without
serving the debtor constitutassiolation of the FDCPA. Dillon v. Riffel-Kuhlmann574 F.
Supp. 2d 1221, 1223 (D. Kan. 2008). Oitlon, the plaintiff alleged th defendant had violated
the FDCPA by not serving processtum in a state collection actiortd. Judge Vratil noted
that the FDCPA generally prohibitiebt collectors from “(1gngaging in harassing, oppressive
or abusive conduct; (2) using false, deceptivenmieading representations or means; and (3)
using unfair or unconscionable meantd’ (citing Johnson v. Ridd|e805 F.3d 1107, 1117 (10th
Cir. 2002) (citing 15 U.S.C. 88 1692d, 1692e, 16821 noting that the “substantive heart of
FDCPA lies in these prohibitiony” In this case, Judge Viagranted summary judgment to

defendant on the FDCPA claimpdaining that “the failure to gaply with service of process

Defendant recognizes, however, that the Court mestpt as true the facts alleged in plaintiff's
Complaint when considering this Motion to Dismi¢d. Thus, when deciding this Motion to Dismiss,
the Court does not consider defendant’s statement ébdadliefs surrounding plaintiff's current address.
6 Plaintiff has attached the Return of Service of Summons to his Memorandum in Opposition to
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 19-3 at 1Because plaintiff instructetthe Sheriff to serve
defendant, the Sheriff, not defendant, filed the Retii Service of Summons stating he had served
plaintiff with process.Id.; see alsd.S.A. § 61-3005(a) (“Every officer to whom summons or other
process shall be delivered for service within or witttbe state, shall make return thereof in writing
stating the time, place and manner of service of suithand shall sign such officer's name to such
return.”) In addition, defendant certifiedtime Journal Entry of Judgment that “thia file in the above-
captioned case refleétghat plaintiff was “properly served with summons or process herein on the 13th
day of September, 2012.” Def.’s Mem. in Supp. oftMo Dismiss, Ex. C (Doc. 14-3) (emphasis added).
Thus, defendant did not attest that plaintiff had bss¥med in the state court lawsuit; rather it relied upon
the court file in the state court lawsuit. Consedyeptaintiff makes no allegation that defendant filed a
false return of service in the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas.

10



rules may render a collection allity, but does not ‘provide[ ] &gal basis to sustain a claim
that the FDCPA has been violatedld. (quotingPierce v. Steven T. Rosso, P)o. 01-1244
DSDJMM, 2001 WL 34624006, at *2 (D. Minn. Dec. 21, 2001)).

Plaintiff argues thabillon is different from his case for a number of reasons: the
plaintiff in Dillon was a pro se prisoner while the defant was represented by capable legal
counsel; the plaintiff there did nble a response to defendant'®tion to dismiss, or in the
alternative, for summary judgment; and there waidence that plaiftiactually was served
with process. These differences, howewee, not material to the gravamerDnllon’s
reasoning. They also do not detract from JU0dgtil’'s observation that no authority exists to
support plaintiff's argument that defendantlated the FDCPA by pursuing a collection action
without serving the debtor and that the remedyding to comply with sevice of process rules
is a null judgment, not a violation of the FDCPA.

Defendant also cites four other cases froneojurisdictions as persuasive authority on
this issue In each case, the court determined tiedéctive service on a debtor in a collection
action did not constitute a FDCRAolation. Instead, the failure &ffect servie rendered the
underlying judgment void, but did not entitle piaif to proceed on an FDCPA claim.

In Pierce v. Steven T. Rosso, PMo, Civ. 01-1244 DSDJMM, 2001 WL 34624006 (D.
Minn. Dec. 21, 2001), the plaintiff brought a FDCPAioi against a debt collector for failing to
comply with Minnesota Rule of Civil Procedu#.05 in serving plairffiin an underlying debt
collection action.Id. at *1. The court granted defendantistion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12(b)(6), finding that defendts failure to serve plairffiin accordance with the state
procedural rules did not “demonstrate[] an attebyptlefendants: (1) toka an action that they

were not legally entitled to take; (2) to falsely igplthreat of suit; or (3) to misrepresent papers

11



as legal process.Id. at *2 (citing 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692e)[he court also stated it was
“unconvinced that ineffective sece alone provides a legal ba$o sustain a claim that the
FDCPA has been violated. Put differently, wiilkfendants’ attempt at legal service failed, this
failure alone does not state a claim for a cause of action under the FDEPA.”

In Keylard v. Mueller Anderson, P.(No. 13 C 2468, 2013 WL 4501446 (N.D. lll. Aug.
22, 2013), the plaintiff debtors sued defend#etit collectors under the FDCPA based on
fraudulent service in an undgirig debt collection actionld. at *1. In the underlying collection
action, the defendant debt collect had hired a private processyver who attested that he
personally served plaintiffs at @ddress where they never livdd. Although the defendant
debt collectors knew or shoutdive known that the returns of service were false based on
information in their own files, defendants fil¢he returns in the @écollection action and
obtained a default judgment against plaintifid. Defendants then caused body attachments to
issue, and one of the plaintiffs waisested based on that attachmedt. Despite these actions,
the court granted defendants’ motion to dssmunder Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) finding that
plaintiffs had failed to state a claimrf@iolation of 8 1692f of the FDCPAId. at *2—-3. The
court determined that plaintiffs were tryinguse § 1692f to enforce lllinois procedural rules
that prohibit filing a knowingly false s&tnent in an affidavit of servicdd. at *3. But no
authority in 8 1692fKeylardconcluded, supported a claim basedplaintiffs’ allegations, and
therefore the court dismissethintiffs’ FDCPA claim. Id.

Likewise, in this case, plaintiff contendsatidefendant instructed the Sheriff to serve
plaintiff at an address whehe had never lived and the adss differed from the address
reflected in the Bank’s account summary. Aftee Sheriff filed a Return of Service of

Summons and plaintiff did noppear, defendant obtained a défgwdgment against plaintiff,

12



executed upon that judgment, and garnished tifié8nvages in an attempt to satisfy that
judgment. The failure to serve plaintiff aethorrect address rendered the judgment null, which
was effectuated by defendant filing the Satison of Judgment acknowledging full and
complete satisfaction of judgment andureding the $1,286.97 defendant had garnished from
plaintiff's wages. But thesallegations do not state claim under the FDCPA for engaging in
harassing, oppressive or abusive condugtalation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692d, using false,
deceptive or misleading regsentations or means irplation of 15 U.S.C. § 169Zeyr using

unfair or unconscionable means in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692f.

Similarly, in Scott v. Kelkris Associates, Indlo. CIV. 2:10-1654 WBS DAD, 2012 WL
996578 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 23, 2012), the plaintiff s@edebt collector for violations of the
FDCPA® after the defendant had hiragrocess server to servaiptiff in the underlying debt
collection action, the paess server failed to tell defend#rttad not effectuated service
properly on plaintiff, defendambtained a default judgment against plaintiff, and defendant
attempted to satisfy the judgmdayt garnishing plaintiff's earningdd. at *1. The court granted
defendant’s motion for summanydgment on each of plaintiffFDCPA claims, finding, first,

that plaintiff did not “specify how the natureonsequence of defendant’s failed attempt at

! The Court also notes that at least onetdoas determined that the FDCPA extends its
protections only to consumers and those whelaaspecial relationship with the consum@ifRourke v.
Palisades Acquisition XVI, LL®&35 F.3d 938, 944 (7th Cir. 2011). that case, the Seventh Circuit held
that representations made to a state court jdabeot violate 15 U.S.C. § 1692e because the FDCPA
applies to misleading statements that “must have the ability to influesmesamer’'siecision.” Id. at

942 (citation omitted). Because the Tenth Circuit hasddtessed this issue, the Court declines to grant
the motion on this basis. However, the Court notes that if the Tenth Circuit were t@&-opikés
holding, it would provide another reason to grant théanagainst plaintiff's § 1692e claim. Here, the
incorrect statements made by defendant abouttiffairaddress were made to the state court and the
Sheriff as part of the collection process, and therewet misleading statements designed to influence
the consumer’s decision.

8 In Scott plaintiff alleged violations of 88 16921)¢(2), 1692c(b), 1692d.692e, 1692e(10), and
1692f of the FDCPA.
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substitute service was to haraggpress, or abuse plaintiff,hd therefore, it granted summary
judgment on plaintiff's § 1692d claimd. at *5. The court next determined that plaintiff had
failed to “plead how defendant’s conduct wasdadeceptive, or misleading” while defendant,
in contrast, presented evidence that it madle an honest and good faith attempt to serve
plaintiff, and therefore, the court granteemmary judgment on plaintiff's 8 1692e claital.
The court also granted summauggment on plaintiff's § 1692f alm finding that no reasonable
trier of fact would find that defendant®nduct was “unfair or unconscionabléd. at *6.°

Although Scottwas a summary judgment case, its hadds instructive to the analysis
that applies here. The defendanSuottrelied on a process servereffectuate service on
plaintiff in the underlying debt collection t@an, it obtained a detdt judgment based on
incorrect information provided by the process eethat plaintiff had been served (although he
was never served), and then it attempted &zete on the judgment by garnishing plaintiff's
wages. The court held that a jury could not find that these allegations constitute violations of 8§
1692d, 1692e, and 1692f, and therefore granted sunjodgsnent against platiff. Similarly,
in this case, plaintiff has failed to state aigl under the FDCPA based on his allegations that
defendant served him at an incorrect addm@stsined a judgmerigainst plaintiff although
service was defective, andrgashed plaintiff’'s wages ls&d on that judgment.

Finally, inMandelas v. Gordan785 F. Supp. 2d 951 (W.D. Wash. 2011), plaintiff sued
defendant for violating 8 1692f of the FDCPAskd on defendant’s failure to serve him with
process in an underlying state court actitth.at 953-54. Defendant hiredprocess server to

serve plaintiff in an underlyg state court action to camh an arbitration awardld. at 953.

° TheScottcourt also granted summary judgment on plaintiff's two remaining claims under the

FDPCA: (1) violation of 8 1692c(b) for communicatiwgh a third party in connection with a debt; and
(2) violation of § 1692b for communicating with any person for the purpose of acquiring location
information. Plaintiff in this action does notigi claims under these two subsections of the FDCPA.
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The process server filed a declaration statinghibdiad served plaifiti but plaintiff denied
service claiming he was out of statdlst time of the alleged servickd. The court in the
underlying lawsuit affirmed the arbitration awand entered judgment against plaintltf.
Defendant then attempted to collect on ti@gment by filing an application for a writ of
garnishment.d. at 954. Defendant filed adfigavit in the state couiction stating that it had
mailed copies of the writ of garnishment taipliff, but plaintiff did not receive themld.
Plaintiff first learned about the writ of garhiment when his bank notified him of the order
requiring attachment of funds from his bank accouleht.Based on these facts, the court granted
summary judgment to defendafihding that obtaining entry gidgment in the state court
action without notice to plairffiwas not “unfair or unconsciob&” in violation of § 1692f.1d.
at 956-57. The court noted, “[I]t has found no autii@upporting [plaintiff’'s] contention that
pursuing a collection action based on a facially abribet factually ineffetive return of service
is unfair or unconscionable conduct under the FRCRather, the limited case authority runs
contrary to this assertion.Id. at 956-57 (citinddillon, 574 F. Supp. 2d at 1223-2iprce
2001 WL 34624006, at *2).

In addition to the cases cited by defendémt Court has located one other case
supporting defendant’s arguments for dissai of plaintiffs FDCPA claims. IMoore v. Fein,
Such, Kahn & Shepard, P,QNo. 12-1157 (JLL), 2012 WL 3945539 (D.N.J. June 13, 2012), the
plaintiff sued the defendant for violating 8§ 16@2fthe FDCPA for takig legal action against
her without properly serving hdevying on her bank account in an attempt to execute on the
default judgment obtained against herd @ausing her to incwa $100.00 bank fee for
processing the levyld. at *4. The court noted that nonetbé enumerated conduct prohibited

by the subsections of 8 1692f corresponded to the conduct alleged by pl&intff*5. The
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court also acknowledged that plaintiff hattd “no case law supporting her contention that
incorrect service of processetimstitution of a levy in accordee with the execution of default
judgment, or the incurring of a bank fee déag from such a levgonstitute ‘unfair and
unconscionable’ conduct under § 1692fd. To the contrary, the court noted that “[t]he limited
case authority that does exist runsiti@r to Plaintiff's assertions.Id. (citing Mandelas 785 F.
Supp. 2d at 956-5MRillon, 574 F. Supp. 2d at 1223—Fierce 2001 WL 34624006). The
court therefore concluded that defendant'sdtect was not unfair or unconscionable, even
though the underlying judgment was later vacatedvigence that plaintiff had not been served
with process.Id. at *6. Consequently, the courtagted defendant’s motion to dismiss
plaintiff's § 1692f claim under Fk R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) for failing to state a claial.

The Court finds these cases persuasive. hEney involve similar factual settings—
failing to effect service mperly, obtaining default judgments, and executing upon those
judgments. In these cases, the courts foundiolation of 15 U.S.C. 88 1692d, 1692e, or 1692f
of the FDCPA. Moreover, plaintiff has proldd this Court with no contrary authority
suggesting that his allegationsnstitute violations of the FDCPATherefore, the Court follows
the other federal courts that have considsmdlar factual scenarios and concluded that the
plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims failed as a matter ofMa Therefore, the Court grants defendant’s
motion to dismiss plaiiff's FDCPA claims.

B. Kansas Consumer Protection Act Claim

Plaintiff's second claim asserts defendawotated the Kansas Consumer Protection Act
(“KCPA"). The Kansas legislature enacted KePA “to protect consumers from suppliers who
commit deceptive and unconscionable practicésS3.A. § 50-623(b). The KCPA requires the

Court to construe the act libesato promote these policiedd.; Golden v. Den-Mat Corp276
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P.3d 773, 789, 790 (Kan. 2012) (KCPA is remedigidiation and requisebroad and liberal
construction).

The KCPA prohibits deceptivend unconscionable acts iommection with a consumer
transaction. K.S.A. 88 50-626(a); 50-627(a). attedefines a “consumer transaction” as the
“sale, lease, assignment or other disposition for valyoperty or servicewithin this state . . .
to a consumer; or a solicitation Bysupplier with respect to any thiese dispositions.” K.S.A. 8§
50-624(c) (emphasis added). The term “dieppis defined in K.S.A. § 50-624(]):

“Supplier” means a manufacturer, distribytdealer, seller, lessor, assignor, or

other person who, in the ordinary coursk business, solits, engages in or

enforces consumer transactions, whetlee not dealing dectly with the
consumer. Supplier does not inclu@gmy bank, trust company or lending
institution which is subject to state od&ral regulation witmegard to disposition

of repossessed collateral by suchliydrust company dending institution.

In State ex rel. Miller v. Midwest Serv. Bureau of Topeka, 6&3 P.2d 1343 (Kan.
1981), the Kansas Supreme Court held that arpemtent debt collection agency is a “supplier”
under the KCPA under certain specific conditiofitie Supreme Court explained what it meant:

[A]n independent debt colidion agency falls withithe definition of a ‘supplier’

and is subject to the provisions of tREPA, if it is found that three specific

conditions exist:

(1) The debt sought to be enforced came into being as a result of a
consumer transaction;

(2) The parties to the original consumer transaction were a “supplier” and
a “consumer” as defined in the act; and

(3) The conduct complained of, either deceptive or unconscionable,
occurred during the collection of, an attempt to collect, a debt which
arose from the consumer transacton was owed by the consumer to the
original supplier.

Miller, 623 P.2d at 1349. Our Court has appliedMiiker test to a law firm engaged in

collection activities similar to defendant in tleisse, which attempted to collect a debt from the
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plaintiff on behalf of the BankSee Rachoza v. Gallas & Schulo. CIV. A. 97-2264—-EEOQO,
1998 WL 171280, at *6 (D. Kan. Mar. 23, 1998) (fingithat the defendant law firm met the
definition of “supplier” becauseaeh of the three requirementsMiller were satisfied). Thus,
the Court looks to thililler test to determine if defendant is a “supplier” under the KCPA and,
therefore, subject to the regeiments of that act.

Defendant assumes for the purposes isfritiotion that the first element bfiller is
satisfied—that the debt sought to be enforcaale into being asrasult of a consumer
transaction. But defendant asseftat plaintiff's KG°A claim fails in this case because he
cannot meet the second and third requiremeniéilidr. Defendant argues thptaintiff fails to
satisfy the second requirement because the paatite original consumer transaction—the
personal loan made by the Bank to plaintiff—weog a “supplier” and a “consumer” as defined
by the act. Defendant also argubat plaintiff fails to meet the third requirement because the
conduct alleged by plaintiff isot deceptive or unconscionalaled therefore not actionable
under the KCPA. The Court addresses eagament in turn below.

1. Were the parties to the originalconsumer transaction a “supplier”
and a “consumer” as defined in the KCPA?

The Court agrees with defendant that i#i cannot meet the second requirement of
Miller if the parties to the original consumer santion were not a “supplier” and “consumer” as
the KCPA defines those terms. Here, the oabaonsumer transaction is the personal loan
made by the Bank to plaintiff. Defendant argthes the Bank is na “supplier” under the
KCPA, and therefore the original consuntransaction was not beeen a “supplier” and
“consumer” as defined in the act.

In support of this argument, defendant relom the KCPA's definition of supplier which

excludes “any bank, trust company or lendingiinson which is subject to state or federal
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regulation with regard to dispitien of repossessed collatetal such bank, trust company or
lending institution.” K.S.A. 8 5@24(l). At least two courts ka construed this statute to
exclude banks and lending institutions entifebm the definition of “sipplier” if they are
subject to state and federal regulatioBge Kastner v. Intrust BanKo. 10-1012—-EFM, 2011
WL 721483, at *2 n.3 (D. Kan. Feb. 22, 2011) (“KAS8§ 50-624(l) appears to exclude banks
and lending institutions that are subject toestatd federal regulation from the definition of
‘supplier’ and the court assumes that defentlantist Bank satisfies this exception.8ge also
In re Long Bankr. No. 09-12827, Adversary No. 09-5303, 2011 WL 976460, at *7 (D. Kan.
Mar. 1, 2011) (explaining that undihe KCPA, “[a] ‘supplier’ is amanufacturer, distributor,
dealer, seller, lessor, assignor, or other penstio engages in ‘consumer transactions,’ but the
definition of supplier does notdiude any ‘bank, trust company lending institution’ that is
state or federally regulated” and holding that a company satisfied the definition of “supplier”
where it was not “a regulated lending entityThe Court concludes that the Bank is not a
supplier under the KCPA if it is sudgjt to state or federal regulatith.

However, the record currently before theu@ on the motion to dismiss does not allow
the Court to determine this dispositive issi®. demonstrate that the Bank is not a supplier
under this definition, defendant relies on the Affidavit of Bryan Butell, Executive Vice President
of the Bank, where he states: “[The Bank] is a bank, trust company, or lending institution which
is subject to state or federaigulation with regard to dispitisn of repossessed collateral by

such bank, trust company, or lending institutioiX. A to Def.’s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to

10 The Court rejects plaintiff's reliance ofork v. InTrust Bank, N.A962 P.2d 405 (Kan. 1998),
where the Kansas Supreme Court held under an eagligion of the KCPA that a bank was a “supplier”
where, in the ordinary course of its banking businth&sbank seized collateral on loans it made and then
disposed of that collaterald. at 419-20. It appears that tRansas legislature’s amendment to the
KCPA in 2005 supersedes this holding by addingettedusion for state or federally regulated lending
institutions under the definition ¢$upplier” in K.S.A. § 50-624(1).
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Dismiss (Doc. 14-1 at { 12). Buis explained above, the Court cancansider this affidavit, as

a matter outside of the pleadings, on a matoodismiss without converting the motion to
summary judgment. Fed. R. CR. 12(d). Before converting the motion to summary judgment,
the Court must give all partiéa reasonable opportunity to pesg all the material that is
pertinent to the motion.Id. Because plaintiff has not had @pportunity to present all material
pertinent to the issue of whethtbe Bank is a state or fedeyategulated institution, the Court
declines to convert the motionsammary judgment this stage.

However, because this issue is dispositive, the Court stays the case on all issues except
for the limited issue of whether the Bank isaestor federally regulated institution exempted
from the definition of “supplier” under the KCPA. If necessary, the parties may conduct
discovery on this limited issue, and afterdsrsubmit summary judgment briefing to the Court
on this single issue. The Court provi@elriefing schedule below.

2. Was the conduct complained of deceptive or unconscionable?

Defendant next argues thaaintiff fails to meet the third requirement of thidler test
because the alleged conduct was neither decamtivenconscionable as a matter of law. Under
the third requirement dfliller, the KCPA applies if “[the&conduct complained of, either
deceptive or unconscionable, occurred during thleat@n of, or an attertgo collect, a debt
which arose from the consumer transactind was owed by the consumer to the original
supplier.” Miller, 623 P.2d at 1349. Moreover, one of plueposes of the KCPA is “to protect
consumers from suppliers who commit decepdind unconscionable practices.” K.S.A. § 50-
623(b).

Here, defendant argues tlilaé¢ alleged conduct was not dptiee or unconscionable as a

matter of law because other courts have detexthihat failing to effect service in a debt
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collection action, obtaining a defid judgment based on that improper service, and garnishing
wages in an attempt to satisfy that judgnemet not deceptive or unconscionable acts under the
FDCPA. Defendant relies on the cases disedsbove holding similar facts would not support
a FDCPA claim. In several of those cases, thetsalatermined that plaintiffs had failed to state
a claim as a matter of law, and therefor ¢burt dismissed the FDCPA action under Fed. R.
Civ. P. 12(b)(6).Sege.g, Keylard v. Mueller Anderson, P.(No. 13 C 2468, 2013 WL
4501446, at *2—3 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 22, 2013\toore v. Fein, Such, Kahn & Shepard, R.Ko.
12-1157 (JLL), 2012 WL 3945539, at *6 (D.N.J. June 13, 2(i2)re v. Steven T. Rosso, P.A.
No. Civ. 01-1244 DSDJMM, 2001 WL 34624006, at *2 (D. Minn. Dec. 21, 2001). And in two
of those cases, the courts found that the pitsrtad failed to state a claim under 8§ 1692f for
using “unfair or unconscionable means’ttalect or attempt to collect a delffee Keylard
2013 WL 4501446, at *2—-3oore, 2012 WL 3945539, at *6.

Plaintiff alleges that defendawiblated two sections of the K&\, First, plaintiff asserts
that defendant engaged in deceptacts or practices in connextiwith a consumer transaction
in violation of K.S.A. § 50-626. Pl.’s Sec. Am. Compl. (Doc. 11 at { 65). Second, plaintiff
claims that defendant engageduimconscionable acts or practiGesonnection with a consumer
transaction in violation of K.S.A. 8 50-62Td. (Doc. 11 at  66). In Kansas, “[t|he
unconscionability of an acrr practice is a questiaf law for the court.”Miller, 623 P.2d at
1349;see also Waggener v. Seever Sys., 6l P.2d 813, 818 (Kan. 1983). Because the Court
has already determined that plaintiff has fhile state a claim agat defendant under § 1692f
of the FDCPA for using “unfair or unconscionableans” to collect or attempt to collect a debt,
the Court also concludes thaaitiff's allegations fail to stte a claim under K.S.A. § 50-627

for engaging in “unconscionable acta”a consumer transaction.
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But the Court declines to reach the samectusion for plaintiff's claim under K.S.A. §
50-626 alleging that defendant engaged in deceptiteeand practices inolation of the KCPA.
In Kansas, whether a deceptive act has been dtednm violation of the KCPA is a question
for the jury to determineSee Waggeng664 P.2d at 818 (explaining that whether an act is
unconscionable in violation of the KCPA is a du@s of law for the courbut whether the act is
deceptive in violation of the KA is a question for the jurydetermination). Thus, the Court
cannot determine as a matter of lnat plaintiff has failed to ate a claim against defendant for
committing deceptive acts in violation oetlKCPA. Consequently, the Court denies
defendant’s motion to dismiss piéif’s claim under K.S.A. 8§ 50-626.

The Court has also reviewed defendaptiblic policy arguments, but finds them
unpersuasive. Defendant arguest ghlaintiff has recovered his damages in this case because
defendant reimbursed plaintiff for the entire amaefmtoney collected from him. Therefore,
defendant contends, plaintiff haset filed this action to promotonsumer protection but rather
to seek punitive remedies. However, as notedv@jthe KCPA is remedial legislation, and the
Court must construe ithact liberally. Golden v. Den—Mat Corp276 P.3d 773, 789, 790 (Kan.
2012). Therefore, the Court will not foreatoglaintiff’'s KCPA claim based on defendant’s
public policy arguments.

IV.  Conclusion

The Court grants in part amiénies in part defendant’s motion to dismiss. For the
reasons explained above, the Court concludethaitiff has failed to state a claim under the
FDCPA upon which relief can be granted. Therefthe Court grants defendant’s motion to

dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6aagt plaintiffs FDCPA claim.
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The Court also finds that plaintiff h&sled to state a claim under the KCPA for
engaging in unconscionable actssinlation of K.S.A. 8§ 50-627 Therefore, the Court grants
defendant’s motion to dismissgphtiff's claim under K.S.A8 50-627. The Court, however,
denies defendant’s motion to dismiss pldi's KCPA claim under K.S.A. 8§ 50-626 for
engaging in deceptive acts and practices.

The Court also denies defendant’s motiodigmiss the KCPA claims on the basis that
the parties to the underlying consumer transaakere not a “consumer” or “supplier” as
defined by the KCPA. As explained above, tlo cannot determine that the Bank was not a
“supplier” under the KCPA based on the recortbleit on the motion to dismiss. Therefore,
the Court orders that the case is stayed ossles except for the limited issue of whether the
Bank is a state or federally regulated instituttarempted from the definition of “supplier” under
the KCPA and orders the partimssubmit summary judgment briefing to the Court on this single
issue in accordance with tsehedule provided below.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT the defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss (Doc. 13) is granted part and denied in part.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT the case is stayed on all issues except for the
limited issue of whether the Bank is a state defally regulated institution exempted from the
definition of “supplier” under the KCPA. Thgarties may conduct discovery on this limited
issue and must file dispositive motions on this issuéater than November 20, 2014.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this _1st_day of Octber, 2014, at Topeka, Kansas.

s/ Daniel D. Crabtree

Daniel D. Crabtree
United States District Judge
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